IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

) )) )

) )

)

))

)



CLERK, SUPREME COURT Ву **K**rk Chief Deputy

CASE NO. 65,695

JAMES ROGER HUFF, Appellant, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

> APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 1012 South Ridgewood Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014-6183 Phone: (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u> The trial court refused to allow Appellant to introduce the testimony of Alfred White, who was offered as an expert in the investigation of crime scenes and the collection, identification and preservation of evidence. The trial court concluded that the witness did not have sufficient facts at his disposal to offer an expert opinion.

<u>POINT II</u> During the cross-examination of a state witness, the prosecutor interrupted with an objection based upon relevance. Cross debate between opposing counsel developed during which the prosecutor called the appellant a murderer.

<u>POINT III</u> During cross-examination of the appellant, cross debate ensued between opposing counsel after defense counsel's objection that the question had been asked and answered. In ruling on the objection, the court said that the answer was vague. Appellant argues that this was a comment on his credibility which carried much weight with the jury.

<u>POINT IV</u> Shortly after his arrest at the scene, police officer Terry Overly advised the appellant of his rights pursuant to <u>Miranda</u>. The rights were indadequate, appellant failed to understand them and he invoked his right to silence. Sheriff Johnson then interrogated Appellant without readvisement. Appellant contends that the incriminating statement should have been excluded based upon three grounds: (1) the inadequate <u>Miranda</u> warnings; (2) the failure of Appellant to fully understand his rights thus rendering the statement involuntary; and (3) the fact that the statement was obtained following further interrogation without readvisement of rights after the appellant had invoked his right to remain silent.

<u>POINT V</u> The first citizen to which the appellant reported the crimes, testified over objection that the circumstances of Appellant's account of the killings did not "look right" to him. A police officer was also allowed to

- xvi -

testify over objection that he believed the appellant to be guilty of the murders. Appellant argues that this testimony should have been excluded as impermissible opinion testimony from lay witnesses.

<u>POINT VI</u> Evidence was admitted that implied that the appellant was engaged in extra-marital, interracial fornication. The state offered the evidence to show that the appellant felt safe at that location. The evidence was totally irrelevant and highly prejudicial.

<u>POINT VII</u> The prosecutor once again engaged in improper cross-examination and comment during the testimony of Terry Overly. This included two separate comments on Overly's credibility as well as improper impeachment. <u>POINT VIII</u> The motion for judgment of acquittal should have been granted where the evidence was insufficient and also failed to disprove the appellant's testimony which revealed a reasonable hypothesis of innocence. At the very least, the evidence was totally insufficient to prove the requisite premeditation beyond a reasonable doubt. The state's case was almost entirely circumstantial.

<u>POINT IX</u> During the cross-examination of the appellant, the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by improperly commenting on Appellant's credibility, and by implying that the state had other evidence of guilt which they were not permitted to present to the jury based upon procedural maneuvering by the defense. The prosecutor also inferentially commented upon the appellant's failure to fully and completely testify.

<u>POINT X</u> The trial court erred in overruling Appellant's objections and allowing the state to improperly introduce prior testimony of a witness where the prior testimony did not refresh the witness' memory to the point that he had an independent recollection of the facts. At that point, the state should have proceeded under the method of prior recollection recorded which was done improperly in this case.

- xvii -

<u>POINT XI</u> Appellant contends that fundamental error occurred as a result of numerous instances of misconduct by the trial judge and the prosecutor which gave the jury the distinct impression that the trial was not a serious matter. <u>POINT XII</u> Appellant was denied due process of law by the failure of the state to maintain certain physical evidence prior to trial. These included blood samples of the victims, the clothing that appellant wore at the time of his arrest, the dismantling of the automobile where the murders occurred and the complete gun shot residue test including instructions.

<u>POINT XIII</u> Appellant attempted to introduce evidence that Sheriff Ernie Johnson was under investigation for alleged sexual improprieties shortly after the murders. Since it was an election year, this issue was an important one in the campaign. Appellant contended that this evidence should be admissible since it provided a motive for Sheriff Johnson to go to any lengths (including perjury) in order to solve this big case and focus on that as a campaign issue instead.

<u>POINT XIV</u> The photographs and bloody clothing of the victims which were introduced over objection should have been excluded where the shocking and prejudicial nature of the evidence outweighed any probative value. <u>POINT XV</u> The indictment should have been dismissed based upon double jeopardy grounds. Appellant's first trial resulted in reversal and remand for a new trial due to prosecutorial misconduct. This misconduct should preclude reprosecution. At the very least, an evidentiary hearing should be held where the trial judge addresses the issue of whether the prosecutor's misconduct at the first trial was intended to provoke the motion for mistrial which resulted in the subsequent reversal.

<u>POINT XVI</u> The appellant was not present at the jury view, during a discussion in chambers concerning the introduction of certain evidence on two occasions and during the testimony of the medical examiner at the penalty phase of the first trial.

<u>POINT XVII</u> Appellant urges reversal based upon cumulative error resulting from several incidents at trial.

<u>POINT XVIII</u> Appellant argues that the trial court improperly imposed the two death sentences. Appellant objects to the trial court's heavy reliance upon his lack of remorse where this is derived from his exercise of constitutional rights. The court also erred in repeating verbatim the findings of fact by the first trial judge regarding the aggravating factor that the murders were committed for pecuniary gain. This is an abdication of the trial court's responsibility and is an indication of a failure to individually consider certain factors in consideration of the death penalty. The murders were not heinous, atrocious or cruel since the victims did not suffer. The evidence that the murders were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner is totally circumstantial.

<u>POINT XIX</u> Appellant urges that the Florida capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional.

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES ROGER HUFF, ) Appellant, ) vs. ) STATE OF FLORIDA, ) Appellee. )

CASE NO. 65,695

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols will be used:

"R" - Refers to the Record on Appeal consisting of the transcript and pleadings from the most recent trial in 1984.

"T" - Refers to the Record on Appeal consisting of the transcript and pleadings from the first trial in 1980.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was originally convicted in 1980 for two charges of first-degree murder and was sentenced to death as to each. Subsequently, this Court reversed and remanded this cause for a new trial. <u>Huff v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 1983). (R 3120-8) Appellant was retried commencing in May of 1984 on a two-count indictment charging him with the first-degree murders of Norman and Genevieve Huff. (R 3119)

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a motion to protect evidence found at the crime scene. (R 3154) Appellant also filed a motion to dismiss based upon double jeopardy. This was denied. (R 3-4, 3157-9, 3168-3209, 3217-44)

Pursuant to Appellant's motion for change of venue, the trial was held in Pinellas County. (R 3164, 3300-3306, 3393)

- 1 -

Appellant also filed a motion for production of favorable evidence. (R 3408-10) Appellant also filed a motion in limine regarding argument by the state that the grand jury of Sumter County had indicted the appellant, thus implying guilt. (R 3216)

Appellant filed a motion to suppress a pretrial statement which was denied. (R 518-30, 3309-10)

Appellant's motion for statement of aggravating circumstances on which the state intended to rely was denied. (R 4-7, 3637)

Numerous other pretrial motions were made which, if pertinent to this appeal, will be addressed in the body of the argument. This statement also applies to adverse rulings suffered by the appellant during the trial.

Following deliberation, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged as to each count. (R 3089-92) Appellant elected to waive the penalty phase and accept two sentences of death. The state objected to the waiver but the court overruled it. At the state's request and over Appellant's objection, the trial court took judicial notice of the first trial in this cause. (R 3093-3106)

The trial court imposed two consecutive sentences of death and filed written findings of fact. The court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) that the murders were committed for pecuniary gain; (2) that the murders were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (3) that each murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense or moral or legal justification. The trial court found in mitigation that the appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity. (R 3106-12, 3788-3804) A timely notice of appeal was filed and this appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 21, 1980, James Roger Huff, the appellant, arrived at the nearby home of his parents, Norman and Genevieve Huff (the decedents), between

- 2 -

9:30 and 10:00 that morning. After doing some chores around his parents' house as well as a neighbor's, the appellant walked back to his own home which was only about 100 yards away. There he did some chores until his parents arrived about mid-afternoon to pick him up before driving to his mother's office at Bergman Realty. (R 2613-23)

The trio arrived at Bergman Realty and Mrs. Huff went into the office to take care of some business. They were observed by Sue Hollingsworth and Jackie Pruitt, both employed at Bergman Realty in Leesburg where Mrs. Huff was also employed. Hollingsworth saw Genevieve and Norman arrive at the realty office riding in the front seat of their late model Buick; the defendant was observed seated in the back seat. Pruitt observed the same thing. Pruitt further explained that Mrs. Huff was on her way to Sandalwood, a nearby condominium complex, to take care of a rental problem. Neither Hollingsworth nor Pruitt saw the Huff vehicle leave the realty office. (R 613-51)

While waiting for his wife in the car with the appellant, Mr. Huff suggested that the appellant take over the driving chores since he had little confidence in his wife's driving ability. (R 2622-3) When she returned to the car, Mr. Huff suggested that she slide over in the front seat to sit by him while the appellant occupied the driver's seat. The trio resumed their journey toward their final destination of an attorney's office in Wildwood. (R 2623, 2683) After turning onto Highway 44, the appellant observed a car on the side of the road with a man standing next to it signaling with his hand. Assuming some sort of problem, the appellant pulled in behind the car in order to offer aid to the motorist. The car was a green 1972 or 1973 LTD Ford with one passenger who remained in the car while the other man stood outside on the road. The stranger approached the Huffs' car and stuck a rusty-looking, semi-automatic pistol in the appellant's face. The unknown assailant got into the backseat of the Huffs' automobile and, holding them at gun point, told

\_ 3 -

them to stay calm, quiet and to do as they were told. As instructed, the appellant continued driving west on Highway 44 while the Ford LTD followed approximately 75 to 100 yards back. The intruder forced the Huffs to drive down winding back roads until they eventually arrived at a dump area located off of Lee Road. While the Ford LTD followed the Huffs the entire way, the appellant did not see the car pull up to this final destination. Once the car was stopped, the assailant remained in the back seat and asked for money. The appellant took the money out of his wallet and handed it back to the man. Mrs. Huff handed her purse back and Mr. Huff did likewise with his cash. The appellant then felt a blow to his head and was knocked unconscious for an indeterminate period of time. Upon regaining consciousness, the appellant discovered his parents' bodies at the crime site. In an attempt to summon aid, the appellant got into the car only to realize that the keys were missing. He then ran to a nearby house belonging to Wildwood Police Chief Ed Lynum that Appellant knew was vacant but contained a phone. He beat on the front door but found it locked. The appellant next ran to the nearby home of Francis Foster and pounded on the screen door which was latched. He then rang the doorbell until Mr. Foster saw him at the door. The police were summoned. (R 2623-40)

The crime scene is a sandy landfill off Highway 44 west of Highway 301 and Wildwood going toward Interstate 75. At approximately 4:50 p.m., Francis Foster, a person living in the vicinity of the crime scene where the Huffs' bodies were found, saw the appellant. Foster testified that although he did not have his hearing aid in place, he heard his doorbell and found the appellant outside talking about someone being "killed." Foster stated that Huff said he had been run off the road by two men, that he cried for help, and that he asked Foster to call the police. (R 652-74)

- 4 -

Foster further stated that the appellant had sand on his forearms and that he had nothing on his hands. The appellant had no blood on his clothes, hands or forearms. Foster testified at trial that the appellant acted "pretty calm" and that his head appeared to be uninjured. On crossexamination, however, he was impeached from his deposition where he had stated the the appellant was upset and that the appellant had been hit on the head. By the time of the second trial, Mr. Foster's general memory had badly deteriorated partly due to a recent accident. (R 665-74)

Wildwood Police Chief Ed Lynum was one of the first people to see Huff at the crime scene. He testified that Huff was hysterical, crying and upset, and that Huff had related how he had been forced from the road by an armed man. Huff told Lynum that this man had killed his mother and father. (R 676-85, 712-14)

Lynum further testified that Huff had spoken with him several months earlier about possibly purchasing some of Lynum's property in the area. Lynum had seen the appellant in the area on two or three occasions within the two months preceding the murders. Each time, the appellant was in the company of a black female and was drinking a beverage. On the occasions when the appellant remained in the vehicle with the black female, Lynum could not tell what was happening inside the car. (R 701-7) During this same time period, the appellant asked Lynum about obtaining a gun permit. Lynum told him that there should be no problem with this request, since the appellant's business required him to carry money. (R 707-8)

Throughout all of the investigation and both trials, Appellant maintained his statements that he and his parents had been abducted and robbed at the dump site before he found himself knocked unconscious. When he awoke, he found the bodies of his parents and sought help. The only statement by the appellant to the contrary was Sheriff Johnson's testimony that the appellant,

- 5 -

while in a highly emotional state, said to Johnson, "I shot them in the face". (R 105-6) When Johnson asked the appellant who he had shot in the face, the appellant replied, "They shot them in the face". The appellant then told Johnson how he and his parents had been abducted at gun point and he had been knocked unconscious. (R 106-7) Harris Rabon also testified that he had heard the gist of Appellant's incriminating statement to Johnson, but other evidence tended to show that Rabon was nowhere near the pair during their conversation. (R 1116-9, 2179-87) Sheriff Johnson made no written report of this statement. (R 1033-4) All of the other testimony revealed that the appellant had made consistent statements to numerous people at the scene which were consistent with his testimony at trial. (R 660, 681-4, 980-3, 1181-3)

Deputy Harris Rabon of the Sumter County Sheriff's Department transported the appellant to the Sumter County Jail in Bushnell. During the trip, Deputy Rabon heard a radio transmission to Detective Ron Elliott concerning Appellant's lack of consent to a gun shot residue test. Deputy Rabon was of the opinion that the appellant could have heard this radio transmission. Shortly thereafter, the appellant began rubbing his hands together in a washing manner and also rubbed his hands on his pants. (R 1114-28, 1140-1) At the time, Rabon attached no particular significance to Appellant's actions. (R 1163-4)

Deputy Elliott administered a gun shot residue test upon the appellant at the Sumter County Jail after he was booked. The results of this test did not indicate that Huff had recently fired a gun. (R 1766-8, 1953-71) Williams also secured and processed the Huffs' vehicle. (R 1784-5) Much physical evidence was seized and processed. (R 1784-1852, 1868-78) Several fingerprints were obtained from the interior of the car which did not match the prints of either the appellant or Mr. and Mrs. Huff. (R 1893-4, 1899-1903)

- 6 -

The appellant's clothing was seized when he was booked into the Sumter County Jail. Bud Stokes, the booking officer, noted a spot of what appeared to be blood on the right hip area of his underwear. He also stated that he looked at Huff's head in response to Huff's statement about being hit in the head but saw no injuries. Huff had less than one dollar in change at the time of the booking. (R 1725-35) Stokes did not actually touch his head.

A Sumter County resident, Buddy Joyner, testified that on April 21, 1980, he was returning from Inverness, traveling east toward Wildwood on Highway 44. Joyner stated he had known the appellant for several months. He stated that he observed the appellant for a matter of seconds in a vehicle on Highway 44 west of Highway 301 at approximately 4:20 p.m. The vehicle was traveling west on Highway 44 at approximately 35 m.p.h. He further stated that the defendant was driving the vehicle and that he saw no other people in the car. Joyner admitted that a dozen other people could have been in the car with the appellant but they would have to have been the size of "eraser heads". (R 1553-69)

A Sumter County physician testified that he had examined the defendant on April 24, 1980. Dr. Rojas examined Huff for brain and head injuries. The doctor found no sign of edema, bruising, lacerations or abrasions on the defendant's head, and also found no external signs that Huff had been rendered unconscious by a blow to the head. Dr. Rojas stated that a person could be struck hard enough on the head to lose consciousness, yet still appear normal in gross examination as well as x-ray. The doctor admitted that he did not employ all available procedures in order to detect any possible brain damage. (R 2858-92)

Radiologist L. D. Chatham testified that he had examined head x-rays taken of the defendant by Dr. Rojas. He stated that he found no fractures, no soft tissue abnormalities, and nothing consistent with a person who has

- 7 -

received a severe skull blow. The witness conceded that he would expect to see evidence of injury in the x-rays given the facts of which he had knowledge. (R 2893-900)

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