IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES ROGER HUFF,	
Appellant,	
vs.	CASE NO. 65,695
STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.	FILED
	MAY 2 1985
	CLERK, SUPREME COURT By

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ELLEN D. PHILLIPS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
125 N. Ridgewood Avenue
Fourth Floor
Daytona Beach, Florida 32014
(904) 252-2005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee generally accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts presented by appellant, with those additions and corrections pertinent to each argument as noted therein. Appellee would call attention to the additional facts presented under Point VIII, relating to the sufficiency of the evidence, at pp 20-21.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>: Appellant's proffered expert on police procedure was too unfamiliar with the facts of the case to be competent.

<u>POINT II</u>: Prosecutor comment was harmless. A curative instruction was given and each juror individually polled.

<u>POINT III:</u> There was no error in the court's comment; the point was not preserved for review.

<u>POINT IV</u>: The trial judge made factual findings contrary to appellant's position regarding the <u>Miranda</u> warnings and voluntary nature of the confession.

<u>POINT V</u>: The witness' comment was harmless. This point was not properly preserved for review.

<u>POINT VI</u>: The evidence that appellant felt safe in the crime location is relevant.

<u>POINT VII</u>: No reversible error occurred in Terry Overly's cross-examination.

POINT VIII: The evidence of guilt was overwhelming.

<u>POINT IX</u>: No error occurred in the cross-examination of appellant.

<u>POINT X</u>: Terry Overly testified his memory was refreshed by his prior statement. The prior statement was also admissible as past recollection recorded.

<u>POINT XI</u>: Appellant shows no prejudice by "jocular" comments, which for the most part were made in the jury's absence. He did not preserve this point for review.

<u>POINT XII</u>: The evidence was properly preserved. Appellant's objections were not.

POINT XIII: The proffered evidence was irrelevant.

POINT XIV: The photographs and clothing were highly relevant.

POINT XV: There is no double jeopardy problem in appellant's retrial. The prosecutor did not intend to cause a mistrial.

<u>POINT XVI</u>: Appellant was present during all critical stages of this trial. Any objections were not preserved.

<u>POINT XVII</u>: Any errors in the trial were harmless; proof of guilt was overwhelming.

POINT XVIII: The death sentences were properly imposed.

POINT XIX: The death penalty statute is constitutional.

POINT I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY OF A DEFENSE WITNESS REGARDING PROPER CRIME SCENE PROCEDURE

ARGUMENT

Several weeks into the trial of this cause, appellant announced he wished to present a new witness. ¹ The witness was a retired St. Petersburg police officer, Alfred White, who lives in Pinellas County (to which the trial had been transferred on appellant's change of venue motion) (R 2427). On Friday, May 25, White offered the opinion that the crime scene had not been properly investigated (R 2455). This opinion was based solely on what defense attorneys told him, and observing photos of the scene; White had never been to the scene himself (R 2436-2438). White offered his view that no matter how numerous the footprints and tire cases, he personally would take casts of every one. ² (R 2450). White further opined that if local Sunter County law enforcement processed the scene to the best of their ability, but did not do everything he thought they should, then they should have gotten assistance "from some place." At the point his opinion was offered, White had read none of the testimony or reports regarding what was done at

The name of the witness, Alfred White, was given to the state Monday, May 21 (R 2427), three weeks after the trial had begun.

^{2 &#}x27;'Q: Would there be a reason for not taking footprints if they were too numerous?

A: It wouldn't be for me, no.

Q: How about with tire tracks, sir, if they were too numerous to case?

A: Whatever length of time it takes, it should be done." (R 2450).

^{3 &#}x27;Well, I'm not familiar with the area and I don't know what is available in that area, but certainly they could get assistance from some place." (R 2454).

the crime scene, had never been to Sumter County (let alone the scene), and knew nothing of the conditions under which the officers operated. The trial judge ruled the "expert" evidence incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial:

THE COURT: All right. Let's do it this way. The Court is not interested in hearing any more legal argument. I think without casting any aspersions at all upon the personal competence of the witness on crime scene investigations, the Court, of course, initially has not made a decision whether he is an expert witness or not, but even if the Court were to determine that he is an expert, and, quite likely, he is, I think it's ludicrous to expect the Court to allow this testimony to be presented to the jury based upon a handful of photographs and a totally insufficient hypothetical in which the facts are assumed that are not in evidence.

MR. HILL: Judge, for the record, -- THE COURT: I'm not through yet.

There was no access given of this witness to reports, no knowledge of procedures actually used, the time frame of the photographs are not available to anyone. There's no testimony or no inclusion in the hypothetical as to the possibility that much of the crime scene portrayed in the photographs may have already been processed before some of the photographs had been made. I think it's just totally inadequate amalgamation of data to allow any expert, regardless of how knowledgeable he is, to give an opinion. So at least as of this point in time, I feel that his testimony would not only be incompetent, it would be irrelevant and immaterial.

(R 2478-2479).

Appellant re-proffered White on Tuesday, May 29, after Memorial Day weekend (R 2482). White had read reports of officers Williams, Elliott, and Thompson at home, and spent approximately 1 1/2 hours reading their transcripts that morning (R 2525). However, he had only finished a part of Williams, a part of Elliott's, and none of Thompson's testimony (R 2483; 2506-7; 2522). He still didn't know who the people in the crime scene photos were, or their function in processing the scene (R 2564-65). White stated he didn't know if any evidence was disturbed "because he wasn't there." (R 2568). The trial judge reaffirmed his prior ruling, and excluded the "expert" testimony (R 2607).

On appeal, appellant claims error in excluding the proffered opinion that proper procedures were not followed in processing the scene.

Contrary to appellant's belief, appellee does contest that preservation of the crime scene was a "crucial issue." The issue relevant to the cause is the claim of possible lost evidence which, according to the defense, could corroborate appellant's story. This issue is not affected one way or the other by any "expert" opinion about crime scene techniques. Had the state offered ten experts all testifying that the procedures followed represent the highest and best standards of recognized police procedure, the defense argument (and the issue) would be the same: that the procedure followed (whether good, bad or indifferent) could have resulted in possibly exculpatory evidence being lost. Thus, the relevant inquiry is into the actual procedures used, not a collateral critique of police procedures in general. A trial should not be turned into a collateral, irrelevant debate with one expert witness criticizing the opinions or methods of another.

Carver v. Orange County, 444 So.2d 452 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); Ecker v. National Roofing of Miami, 201 So.2d 586 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967).

Further, as recognized by the trial judge, this "expert" had no basis whatever for criticizing the police procedure in the instant case, because he had no knowledge of the scene or the procedure actually followed. While appellant cites the general rule, he fails to note that his cited cases require a trial judge to exclude proffered expert testimony where the expert has insufficient knowledge of the facts of the case at hand. See, e.g., Nat Harrison Associates, Inc. v. Byrd, 256 So.2d 50 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971). Experts with insufficient personal knowledge of the facts of the case should not be permitted to testify. Spradley v. State, 442 So.2d 1039 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); Martin v. Story, 97 So.2d 343 (Fla. 2d DCA 1957).

Lastly, the witness's testimony that he did not know

of any lost, contaminated, or disturbed evidence, likewise negates any evidentiary value of his opinions, since there is no inference his methods would have made any difference. Accord, Husky Industries, Inc. v. Black, 434 So.2d 988 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

POINT II

WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S REMARK REFERRING TO APPELLANT AS A MURDERER REQUIRED THE TRIAL JUDGE TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL.

In response to defense allegations that the Sumter County Sheriff's Office "contaminated" the crime scene, the prosecutor, in the course of a heated exchange with defense counsel, stated, "And I hope Mr. Hill is not suggesting that we should let a murderer walk free just because we didn't have the Federal Bureau of Investigation...conducting the investigation of the killing of his parents." (R 734-735). Argument continued, then defense counsel continued his cross-examination, asking Chief Lynum two more questions. Counsel then approached the bench and requested a mistrial (R 736). Appellant claims denial of this motion was error.

A mistrial should not be granted unless the comment was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Cobb v. State, 376 So.2d 230 (Fla. 1979). It is respectfully urged that this comment could hardly be said to have influenced the jury at all. The jury was obviously aware that appellant was on trial for murder; "it is not reversible error for the prosecutor to refer to the defendant as a murderer where the indictment is for murder and evidence supports the charge." Washington v. State, 86 Fla. 533, 98 So. 605 (1924). This comment was made during the first day of testimony in the trial, on May 7, 1984. The jury retired to deliberate on June 1, some three weeks later (R 3080-3081). After three weeks and some

two dozen witnesses, any impact the exchange may have had was clearly dissipated. As in <u>Blair v. State</u>, 406 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981), the comment complained of was not

"of such a nature so as to poison the minds of the jurors or to prejudice them so that a fair and impartial verdict could not be rendered." ... They did not 'materially contribute to this conviction',...were not "so harmful or fundamentally tainted so as to require a new trial"..., and were not so inflammatory that they 'might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would have otherwise"......"[I]t will not be presumed that...jurors are less astray, to wrongful verdicts, by the impassioned eloquence and illogical pathos of counsel."

406 So.2d at 1107 (cites omitted). <u>See also, Mason v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1983).

Appellee would furtherpoint out that there was not contemporaneous objection and motion for mistrial at the time the comment was made, <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978), and that a curative instruction was given (R 754-755). In fact, each juror was specifically polled on his ability to disregard comments by counsel, and agreed he would do so (R 755-756). No error has been shown in the trial court's determination that a mistrial was unnecessary.

POINT III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN THE COURT RULED THAT APPELLANT'S ANSWER TO A QUESTION WAS 'VAGUE''.

As noted by appellant, during his cross-examination by the state, the trial court stated, "the answer by the witness was vague." (R 2761). This ruling was in response to defense counsel's non-specific opposition to the state's persistent questioning. Appellee respectfully disagrees that this comment reflects one way or the other upon appellant's credibility.

Rather, it is a neutral ruling allowing a question to be re-asked, as not redundant. This should be compared to the situation where a court statement could be construed as a comment on the truthfulness of a witness, such as in Gordon v. State, 449 So. 2d 1302 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). 4 Further, if the ruling could be construed as an implication that the court feels appellant was "evasive" (as argued below), this "error" is exactly the type of situation which should be addressed by a curative instruction, not a mistrial. It is the possible influence on the jury of their possible interpretation of the trial judge's opinion which is complained of here. This speculative prejudice could readily have been dispelled by an announcement by the trial judge himself. Accord, Henderson v. State, 463 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1985); Provence v. State, 337 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 1976). 'Even if the comment is objectionable on some obvious ground, the proper procedure is to request an instruction from the court that the jury disregard the remarks." Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982). By failing to request an instruction by the judge which could easily have cured any misinterpretation, appellant waived any claim to prejudice on appeal. Appellee would also reiterate that the comment is innocuous and non-prejudicial in any case.

The other comment by the judge was insufficient to warrant even an objection by defense counsel (See R 2253 et. seq.). By failing to object, request a curative instruction, or move for a mistrial, any objection to comment by a trial judge is not preserved for review. Herzog v. State, 439 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 1983); Foreman v. State, 47 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1950); Scott v.

Q: In fact, you have been consistent with what your statement is except for the demonstration?

A: Right.

MRS. HOAGUE: Objection, Your Honor, that's not true.

THE COURT: Not only that, its very leading. The objection is overruled and it isn't true.

Gordon at 1303.

<u>State</u>, 396 So.2d 271 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); <u>Pegues v. State</u>, 361 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

POINT IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS HIS STATE-MENT TO SHERIFF JOHNSON THAT, "I SHOT THEM IN THE FACE."

When Sheriff Johnson arrived at the scene of the murders, appellant was seated in a patrol car. Johnson stuck his head in the car and asked what happened; appellant responded, "I shot them in the face." (R 1005-1006). Prior to this second trial, appellant moved to suppress this confession (R 3309). The same motion was re-filed after the jury was chosen, (R 3559), and a hearing held on the matter (R 518-530). A hearing had already once been had, determining that the confession was admissible, prior to the first trial of this cause. (See "Huff I", Case No. 59,989, R 1810-1845). At the motion to suppress in this re-trial, appellant represented to the court that Judge Booth's prior ruling would be "law of the case" unless different testimony was presented. (See Defendant's Memorandum of Law, R 3555-3557). The taking of testimony was postponed until the trial proper.

In this appeal, appellant claims that (1) "law of the case" should not have governed the admissibility of the confession, and (2) the motion to suppress should have been granted.

(1) 'Law of the Case'

In ruling the statement admissible, the trial judge gave two bases:

THE COURT: The state has shown by a preponderance of the evidence that the Miranda warning was adequately given. I feel it is law of the case and res judicata and will not disturb the original ruling.

(R 877-878). In now attacking the court's reference to "law of the case",

appellant is attempting to deny his own argument below. In fact, the trial judge accepted appellant's position as to "law of the case" (R 519). Appellant's own case citations and memorandum of law instructed the court that the prior ruling was binding on the judge unless new facts were presented; a trial judge should not revisit pre-trial motions to suppress or relitigate suppressison issues already decided. U.S. v. Montos, 421 F.2d 215 (5th Cir. 1970); Rouse v. U.S., 359 F.2d 1014, 1018, N.1 (D.C. Cir. 1966) [Cases cited as authority by appellant below]. While appellant may deny the applicability of federal authority now, there can be no question that any "error" by the trial court in this instance was invited. Further, the rule is not inconsistent with Florida law, and deference to a prior ruling is not error. See, Brown v. State, 397 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981); Songer v. State, 365 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1978). See also, Gregg v. U.S. Industries, Inc., 715 F.2d 1522 (11th Cir. 1983). In any case, the court below did in fact have a new suppression hearing (R 790-858), and also took judicial notice of the prior testimony (R 849), before coming to its own independent ruling (in addition to finding 'law of the case').

(2) Denial of the Motion to Suppress

Appellant offers two reasons why his statement should have been suppressed. First, that a statement by Overly in the October, 1980, testimony ("Huff I" suppression hearing R 1810-1845), indicates appellant invoked his right to remain silent, and second, that there was insufficient predicate for the confession.

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